a cura di

STEFANO BERTOCCI
FEDERICO CIOLI

SN mnli‘un[—! i ET\\

T

J“HE]T"? gip -

~ =\

Franciscan Landscapes

Conservation, Protection and Use
of Rel%ous Cultural Heritage
in the Digital Era

vol. 2




La serie di pubblicazioni scientifiche della Collana Bianca ha l'obiettivo di diffondere i risul-
tati delle ricerche e dei progetti realizzati dal Dipartimento di Architettura DIDA dell’Uni-
versita degli Studi di Firenze in ambito nazionale e internazionale.

Ogni volume & soggetto a una procedura di accettazione e valutazione qualitativa basata
sul giudizio tra pari gestita dal Comitato Scientifico della Collana Ricerche. Architettura,
Pianificazione, Paesaggio, Design del Dipartimento di Architettura con Firenze University
Press. Tutte le pubblicazioni sono inoltre open access sul Web (didapress.it), per favorire
non solo la diffusione ma anche una valutazione aperta a tutta la comunita scientifica in-
ternazionale.

Il Dipartimento di Architettura dell’Universita di Firenze promuove e sostiene questa col-
lana per offrire un contributo alla ricerca internazionale sul progetto, sia sul piano teori-
co-critico che operativo.

The Collana Bianca series of scientific publications has the purpose of disseminating the results of
national and international research and project carried out by the Department of Architecture of
the University of Florence (DIDA).

The volumes are subject to a qualitative process of acceptance and evaluation based on peer review,

which is entrusted to the Scientific Publications Committee of the Department of Architecture

with Florence University Press. Furthermore, all publications are available on an open-access ba-

sis on the Internet (didapress.it), which not only favors their diffusion, but also fosters an effective

evaluation from the entire international scientific community.

The Department of Architecture of the University of Florence promotes and supports this series in

order to offer a useful contribution to international research on architectural design, both at the
theoretico-critical and operative levels.



collana bianca | architettura pianificazione paesaggio design



Editor-in-Chief
Francesco Valerio Collotti | University of Florence, Italy

Scientific Board

Gianpiero Alfarano | University of Florence, Italy; Barbara
Aterini | University of Florence, Italy; Carla Balocco | University
of Florence, Italy; Susanna Caccia Gherardini | University
of Florence, Italy; Maria De Santis | University of Florence,
Italy; Letizia Dipasquale | University of Florence, Italy; Giulio
Giovannoni | University of Florence, Italy; Lamia Hadda |
University of Florence, Italy; Anna Lambertini | University of
Florence, Italy; Francesca Mugnai | University of Florence,
Italy; Luisa Rovero | University of Florence, Italy; Marco
Tanganelli | University of Florence, Italy

International Scientific Board

Daniela Bosia | Politecnico di Torino; Nicola Braghieri | EPFL -
Swiss Federal Institute of Technology in Lausanne, Switzerland;
Lucina Caravaggi | University of Rome La Sapienza, Italy;
Federico Cinquepalmi | [ISPRA, The Italian Institute for
Environmental Protection and Research, Italy; Margaret
Crawford, University of California Berkeley, United States;
Maria Grazia D’Amelio | University of Rome Tor Vergata,
Italy; Francesco Saverio Fera | University of Bologna, Italy;
Carlo Francini | Comune di Firenze, Italy; Sebastian Garcia
Garrido | University of Malaga, Spain; Medina Lasansky |
Cornell University, United States; Jesus Leache | University
of Zaragoza, Spain; Heather Hyde Minor | University of Notre
Dame, United States; Tomaso Monestiroli | Politecnico di
Milano; Danilo Palazzo | University of Cincinnati, United
States; Pablo Rodriguez Navarro | Universitat Politecnica de
Valéncia, Spain; Ombretta Romice | University of Strathclyde,
Scotland; Silvia Ross | University College Cork, Ireland;
Monica Rossi-Schwarzenbeck | Leipzig University of Applied
Sciences, Germany; Jolanta Sroczynska | Cracow University of
Technology, Poland; Hua Xiaoning | Nanjing University

Emeritus Board

Paolo Felli | Emeritus Professor, University of Florence

Saverio Mecca | Emeritus Professor, University of Florence
Raffaele Paloscia | Emeritus Professor, University of Florence
Maria Concetta Zoppi | Emerita Professor, University of Florence



edited by
STEFANO BERTOCCI
FEDERICO CIOLI

Franciscan Landscapes

Conservation, Protection and Use
of Reli%ious Cultural Heritage
in the Digital Era

vol. 2



UNIVERSITA
DEGLI STUDI DIDA

DIPARTIMENTO DI
F [ RE N Z E ARCHITETTURA

This volume collects the papers presented at the concluding conference of the European
project ‘F-ATLAS: Franciscan Landscapes: The Observance between Italy, Portugal and
Spain’ that took place in Assisi, May 11-13, 2023.

The publication underwent a peer-review-based acceptance and qualitative evaluation
procedure entrusted to the conference’s Scientific Committee using the double peer-blind
review system.

F-ATLAS CONFERENCE - Franciscan Observance Landscapes, Assisi, May 11-13, 2023.

Promoting Committee
Stefano Bertocci, Soraya Genin, Maria Soler Sala, Maria Filomena Andrade.

Organizing Committee

Maria Filomena Andrade, Stefano Bertocci, Federico Cioli, Anastasia Cottini, Blanca Garf{ de
Aguilera, Soraya Genin, Jodo Luis Inglés Fontes, Niiria Jornet Benito, Francesco Salvestrini,
Maria Soler Sala, Carlos Fernando Teixeira Alves, Rolando Volzone.

Scientific Commiteee

Filomena Andrade, Stefano Bertocci, Fabio Bianconi, Matteo Bigongiari, Stefano Brusaporci,
Alessandro Camiz, Pilar Chias Navarro, Xavier Costa Badia, Gabriel Horacio Defranco,
Francesca Fatta, Maria Dolores Fraga Sampedro, Isabella Gagliardi, Blanca Gari de Aguilera,
Soraya Genin, Saul Anténio Gomes, Andrea Giordano, Anna Guarducci, Jodo Luis Inglés
Fontes, Nuria Jornet Benito, Rosa Lluch Bramon, Federica Maietti, Jodo Luis Marques,
Luciano Migliaccio, Andrea Nanetti, Sandro Parrinello, Silvia Marfa Pérez Gonzalez,
Francesca Picchio, Cristiano Riminesi, Pablo Rodriguez-Navarro, Maria de Lurdes Rosa,
Adriana Rossi, Francesco Salvestrini, Maria Soler Sala, Roberta Spallone.

Scientific Secretariat
Roberta Ferretti.

‘F-ATLAS - Franciscan Landscapes: the Observance between Italy, Portugal and Spain’
project was funded in 2020 by the JPICH 2019 Conservation, Protection and Use Call.
Project Leader: Universita degli Studi di Firenze.

Principal Investigators: ISCTE Instituto Universitdrio de Lisboa, Universitat de Barcelona,
Universidade Catélica Portuguesa.

Associate Partners: ICOMOS Portugal, Sisma srl, Regione Umbria, Dire¢io Regional de
Cultura do Centro, Provincia Serafica di San Francesco d'Assisi dei Frati Minori.

in copertina
Facade of the Basilica di Santa Maria degli Angeli, Assisi (Italy). Drawing by Stefano Bertocci.

progetto grafico
didacommunicationlab

Dipartimento di Architettura
Universita degli Studi di Firenze

didapress
Dipartimento di Architettura Stampato su carta di pura cellulosa Fedrigoni Arcoset
Universita degli Studi di Firenze
via della Mattonaia, 8 Firenze 50121 FLEMENTAL NG,

CHLORINE ~ Sl 'Y
© 2024 FREE ﬂm
ISBN 978-88-3338-222-7 GUARANTEED

ACID FREE 150 9706



INDEX

VOLUME 1

Introduction
Stefano Bertocci, Federico Cioli

Presentation

Francesco Piloni

Foreword

Giuseppe De Luca

Benedictine Monasteries in Umbria. A Benchmark
of the Monastic Settlements of Benedictine Rule
Giustino Farnedi

PART I
History and Architecture of the Franciscan Observance

The Franciscan Observance in Portugal. Memories and Archives
Maria Filomena Andrade, Jodo Luis Inglés Fontes, Carlos Fernando Teixeira Alves

Franciscan Observance in Italy
Francesco Salvestrini

Modulation and Allegories in the Franciscan Mother-churches of Saint Francis
and Saint Clare in Assisi
André Franz De Naeyer

Repara domum meam. The Basilica of Santa Maria degli Angeli in Assisi
as an Example of Sustainability ante litteram
Paolo Belardi, Valeria Menchetelli, Francesco Cotana

The Franciscan Reconstruction of the Church of S. Fermo in Verona
in the Architectural Context of the Venetian Gothic (13'"-14" Centuries)
Angelo Passuello

Os Sanctos Reys. Memory of the Practices around the Tombs of the Founders
of Saint Clare Monastery in Vila do Conde
Raquel Lourengo

Conventets in the Crown of Aragon (13"-16% Centuries)
Pilar Abellan Millan

15

19

21

25

29

31

43

53

65

77

89

99



334

FRANCISCAN LANDSCAPES o STEFANO BERTOCCI, FEDERICO CIOLI

The Convent of san Francisco in Palencia. The Graphic Trace of a History
in Constant Change
Victor-Antonio Lafuente Sanchez, Daniel Lépez Bragado, Alejandra Duarte Montes

Affinities between the Third Orden Regular of Saint Francis of Penance
and the Franciscan Observance. The Monastery of Santa Catalina

of Montefaro (Galicia, Spain)

Maria Luz Rios Rodriguez, Maria Dolores Fraga Sampedro

Re-narrating Cultural Heritage identity. The Church of the Nativity
in ‘Trattato delle piante et imagini de i sacri edificii di Terrasanta’
of Bernardino Amico and Digital history-making Representation
Massimiliano Savorra, Silvia La Placa

Three Cloisters, two Churches and a Tower. From Colegio de Misiones
de San Joaquin to Convent of San Francisco in Cali, Colombia (1751-2010)
Erik Abdel Figueroa Pereira, Costanza Cobo Fray

Church and Convent of San Francisco in Cartagena de Indias.
Its Evolutionary Process over Time
Ricardo Alberto Zabaleta Puello

The Franciscan ensemble in Sdo Paulo. Convent and Churches
Beatriz Piccolotto Siqueira Bueno, Luiz Guilherme de Souza Piagentini,
Luciano Migliaccio, Renata Maria de Almeida Martins, Regina Helena Vieira Santos

PART I
Digital Survey and Documentation of Cultural Heritage

Franciscan Landscapes: Recording and Monitoring
European Religious Architectural Heritage
Stefano Bertocci

Digital Survey for the Interpretation of the Basilica of Santa Maria degli Angeli
in Assisi. From the Porziuncola of Saint Francis to the Basilica-reliquiary
of Galeazzo Alessi

Claudia Cerbai

109

121

135

149

159

167

179

181

195



INDEX

History and Construction Chronology
of the Convent of San Vivaldo in Montaione (FT) 207
Lorenzo Matteoli

Documentation and Valorization of Convents of Minor Orders
and the Most Important Pilgrimage Sites in Tuscany. The Case Study
of San Vivaldo in Montaione (FI) 221

Giovanni Pancani

The Convent of San Nicola in Arischia. Survey and Knowledge 233
Stefano Brusaporci, Pamela Maiezza, Andrea Ruggieri

Integrated Digital Survey Techniques for the Documentation of the Artistic Heritage
of the Franciscan Observance: the Pictorial Cycle of the Indulgence

of Porziuncola by Tiberio d’Assisi 247
Roberta Ferretti
Igumen Rupestrian House Data 261

Carmela Crescenzi

Survey of the State of Conservation of the Monastery of Sant Miquel d’Escornalbou
in Tarragona (Spain) through Digital, Analytical and IR Techniques 271
Sofia Brizzi

Tejeda Monastery, Garaballa (Cuenca, Spain). Testing Methodologies

for Graphic Survey 283
Pablo Rodriguez-Navarro, Teresa Gil-Piqueras, Andrea Ruggieri, Ada Rueda Garcfa,
Cynthia Cuahutencos Meza

Interdisciplinary Perspective on the Post-earthquake Restoration

of Monumental Religious Buildings. The Franciscan Convent of San Guillermo

de Totalapan in Mexico 295
Matteo Bigongiari, Vieri Cardinali, Jacopo Vitale

Digital documentation techniques for planning restoration works
in the Basilica of Nativity 307

Sandro Parrinello, Francesca Picchio

Index of Religious Places 321

335



336

FRANCISCAN LANDSCAPES o STEFANO BERTOCCI, FEDERICO CIOLI

VOLUME 2

PART III
Landscapes and Territories: New Tools and Strategies 343

Promoting Franciscan Observance. Reformist Models in the Crown of Aragon
between the Middle Ages and the Modern Time (14"-16" centuries) 345
Maria Soler Sala, Ntria Jornet Benito, Blanca Gari de Aguilera

Technological Innovation to Support Protection, Conservation and Promotion

of Franciscan Observance Landscapes between Italy, Portugal and Spain
Surveying using U.A.V. Instrumentation 355
Pietro Becherini

Notes on Rest Stops along the Via Francigena 367
Giuseppe Cosentino

New Contents on the Convents of the Franciscan Observance in Umbria (Italy):
Examples from an Ongoing Research on the Historical Archival Documentation 375
Anna Guarducci

Ecosystem Project for Silk Production and Regeneration of the Heritage
of the Convent of San Francesco d’Assisi in Tursi 389
Antonio Conte, Marianna Calia, Vanessa Tancredi

‘Acquario della flora e della fauna dulcacquicola italiana’.
Project for a Living Monument to Saint Francis of Assisi 401
Giovanna Ramaccini, Monica Battistoni, Camilla Sorignani

The ‘Battendiero’ Convent in Taranto. A Characteristic Site
of the Cappuccini Friars 413
Marcello Scalzo

From Asis to Europe. Territorial-urban Development of the Franciscan Order 429
F.-Javier Ostos-Prieto, Christa Reicher, José Manuel Aladro-Prieto,
Maria Teresa Pérez-Cano

Integrated Digital Survey for the Documentation of Cultural Landscapes.
The Franciscan Convent of Chelva on the ‘Ruta del Agua’ 439
Federico Cioli



INDEX

A Map of the Franciscan Heritage in the Territory of the State of Sdo Paulo, Brazil =~ 451
Luciano Migliaccio, Renata Maria de Almeida Martins

Franciscan Citadel: Strategy for Convents in the Coastal Landscape of Sio Paulo 465
Haroldo Gallo, Marcos Tognon, Fr. Alvaci Mendes da Luz

PART IV
Dissemination, Management and Promotion of Cultural Heritage 473

Documentation as a Tool for Analysis and Dissemination of the Cultural Heritage.
The Case of the Franciscan Observance in Portugal, Italy and Spain 475
Soraya Genin, Rolando Volzone, Alexandra Paio, Filipe Branddo

Digital Tools to Disseminate Cultural Heritage 485
Marc Ferrer

Inclusive Heritage Communication. Integrated Methodologies Crossing 3D Printing,
Marketing and Communication for the Franciscan Observance Convents 495
Michele Carucci, Rolando Volzone

Innovative Tools to Improve the accessibility of Cultural Heritage.
The Experience of the Former Convent of the Clarisses in Lecce 505
Monica Bercigli

Wooden Tabernacle Craved by the Marangoni Friars.
A Project to Enhance an ‘Untouchable’ Heritage of the Capuchins of Abruzzo 515
Alessandro Luigini, Giuseppe Nicastro, Daniele Frusone

Remote Sensing Architectural Survey Experiments for Historical Heritage:
Complex of Santa Croce in Florence and the Challenges of Documentation 527
Stefano Bertocci, Matteo Bigongiari, Gianlorenzo Dellabartola

Algoritmic Approaches for HBIM. The Great Cloister of the Opera
di Santa Croce in Florence 539
Pierpaolo D’Agostino, Giuseppe Antuono, Erika Elefante

Common Data Environment for Knowledge Management of Historic Built Heritage.
The Study Case of the Pieve di Santa Maria in Arezzo 549
Carlo Biagini, Niccold Arrigo, Tommaso Ciardi, Pietro Matracchi

337



338

FRANCISCAN LANDSCAPES o STEFANO BERTOCCI, FEDERICO CIOLI

The Parish Church of San Leonardo in Artimino. Integrated Digital Survey
Methodologies and Application Perspectives for Documentation

and Virtualization of the Architectural Heritage

Andrea Lumini

Digital Documentation for the Communication and Accessibility
of Cultural Heritage
Anastasia Cottini

Reverse Modeling Procedures from Digital Survey to 3D printing.
The Case Study of the Nativity in Bethlehem
Anna Dell’Amico, Hangjun Fu

The Use of HBIM as a Tool for Detecting the Habitability of the Franciscan
Heritage Buildings. The Case of Monastery of Santa Clara de la Columna
(Belalcdzar, Spain)

Pablo Manuel Millan-Millan, Maria Dolores Robador Gonzalez

Romanesque Cloisters. Ecosystems of Data at the Roots of European Culture
Adriana Rossi, Sara Gonizzi Barsanti

The Origins of Christianity. Monastere de Saint Claire, Nazareth
Michelangelo Pivetta, Marcello Verdolin

Exhibition Catalogue — F-ATLAS: Digital Documentation
of Franciscan Landscapes in Italy, Portugal and Spain

Digital Documentation of Franciscan Landscapes in Italy,
Portugal and Spain | Exhibition

Stefano Bertocci, Anastasia Cottini

Index of Religious Places

563

575

587

601

609

619

627

629

649



NEW CONTENTS ON THE CONVENTS OF THE FRANCISCAN
OBSERVANCE IN UMBRIA (ITALY): EXAMPLES FROM AN
ONGOING RESEARCH ON THE HISTORICAL ARCHIVAL
DOCUMENTATION

Anna Guarducci
University of Siena
anna.guarducci@unisi.it

Abstract

This essay sets out the results of research conducted in the main historical archives of
Umbria, starting with that of San Francesco del Monte in Perugia (Monteripido) and espe-
cially the Historical Archive of the Patriarchal Basilica of Santa Maria degli Angeli in Assisi.
The latter preserves, in addition to the papers of the Basilica and the Portiuncula, extensive
documentation relating to a number of Franciscan Observance monasteries, including the
Hermitage of Santa Maria delle Carceri in Assisi, the monasteries of Santissima Annunzi-
ata in Gualdo Tadino, Santissima Annunziata in Amelia, San Bartolomeo in Foligno, Mon-
teluco, Sacro Speco in Narni and San Francesco in Stroncone. These documentary bodies
— very fragmentary and incomplete, not always ordered and catalogued and therefore, often
difficult to consult — consists of correspondence, minutes of sacred canonical visits, patrimo-
nial and accounting notes, entries and exits, convent chronicles and memoirs, and concern
various aspects of the history and life of the Osservanza convents. Among them, those consid-
ered most significant have been selected in order to document some fundamental episodes
of the architectural complexes chosen as case studies (such as the construction, renovation
and expansion works of the buildings), with the relations established, since their foundation,
with the territory and the landscape in which they are set, regarding in particular the use of
resources (mainly water and springs, woods and pastures, agrarian spaces), communication

routes and urban settlements, in a period between the 17" and 20 centuries.

Keywords: Convents, Umbria, Historical Archives Documentation.
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1. The historical archival documentation

The research, whose initial results are presented in this writing, was conducted in the
main historical archives of Umbria, particularly in the Historical Archive of the Seraphic
Province of the Franciscan Friars Minor of Umbria (located in Assisi at the provincial
Curia attached to the Basilica of Santa Maria degli Angeli), where documentation from
numerous convents has been gradually gathered over time.

An initial investigation also involved exploring the inventories of National historical
archives and some local archives in Umbria, which house documentary collections
related to convents that came into their possession following the suppression of reli-
gious institutions during the Napoleonic and Unification eras. These include the dioce-
san archives of Assisi, Spoleto, and Nocera Umbra with Gualdo Tadino, the Municipal
Historical Archive and the Augusta Municipal Library of Perugia. For example, the lat-
ter holds documentation related to suppressed convents in its Manuscripts section; the
Diocesan Historical Archive of Assisi, in the Bishops” Curia section, contains documents
about female (16™-20" centuries) and male (16"-20™ centuries) monasteries and con-
vents; in the Archivio di Stato di Perugia, Spoleto Section, in the Religious Corporations
section, there are five registers related not to a convent but to the hermits of Monteluco,
with documentation from 1631-1780. However, this research path yielded few positive
results for the selected case studies, as the documentation remained at their respective
locations and then gradually converged (at different times and in different ways) to Assisi
in the Provincial Historical Archive.

As stated on the website of the Seraphic Province, already “in 1614, a section of the
Santa Maria degli Angeli provincial archive was set up, consisting of documentation
taken from the archives of the province’s convents. Since then, and especially since
the post-World War I period, this practice has been consolidated and strengthened,
and currently, the historical archive of the Seraphic Province of Saint. Francis of Assi-
si is increasing its function as a centralised repository, also for the better safeguarding
of the documentary heritage. In 2003, the Provincial Minister, with a letter sent to
all guardians and heads of communities of the Province, requested the transfer to the
provincial historical archive of all the documentation still scattered in religious hous-
es and coming from closed convents” (https://www.assisiofm.it/).

The concentration of historical documents in a single central location has been a
fundamentally important operation, allowing for preserving and enhancing the doc-
umentary heritage. It has facilitated its use by scholars and those interested in the

history of convents, thus encouraging research paths and projects.
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In recent times, users have been able to avail themselves of documentary research tools,
thanks to the reorganisation and inventory project of all documentary collections that
have flowed into the provincial archive, promoted since 2004 by the Provincial Minister
and entrusted to the care of Andrea Maiarelli, with the collaboration of lay archivist per-
sonnel and religious experts — a project that is still to be completed.

The provincial archive houses extensive documentation related to some convents of the
Franciscan Observance, including the Hermitage of Santa Maria delle Carceri and the
Convent of San Damiano in Assisi, the convents of the SS. Annunziata of Gualdo Tadino,
the SS. Annunziata of Amelia, San Bartolomeo of Foligno, Monteluco, the Sacro Speco
of Narni, and San Francesco of Stroncone.

In the same location, there is also the Historical Archive of the Seraphic Province of Saint
Francis of Assisi of the Friars Minor in Umbria, established in 1946 through the merger
of the two previous Observance provinces of Umbria: that of Saint Francis and that of
Saint Clare. The reorganisation work, also initiated in 2004, led to a printed inventory
(Maiarelli, 2005). This archive includes the Closed Convents Section, “consisting of 49
archives, originating from just as many convents belonging to the observing provinces of
Umbria, also located outside the current administrative boundaries of the region” (Mai-
arelli, 2005, p. XIV), which were concentrated in the provincial headquarters following
the suppressions of religious orders and closures that took place during the 19" century.
The documentation is extensive, covering a chronological span from 1230 to 2004, and
within this section are the few documents related to the Hermitage of the Santissima
Annunziata in Cesi.

Apart from the archives of the closed convents, only for the Basilica Patriarcale the de-
tailed inventories with printed catalogues exist (Maiarelli, 2004; 2007); for all the others,
at the moment, there are rather summarised and incomplete lists of contents, and it is
only thanks to the availability of the friars that we have been able to consult the papers of
our interest. Only the documentation of San Francesco del Monte of Perugia (Monterip-
ido) has remained on-site and is preserved in the internal archive, reorganised, invento-
ried, and accessible through a printed catalogue from 2004, edited by Andrea Maiarelli
himself. These documentary collections are, with few exceptions, quite fragmented and
incomplete; some still need to be ordered and catalogued (such as those related to Mon-
teluco and the Sacro Speco of Narni) and thus difficult to access. As Andrea Maiarelli
writes (2005, p. XIV), “in most cases, we are indeed faced with modest documentary rem-
nants of archives that were much more substantial, as clearly evidenced by the numerous

ancient inventories found during the cataloguing process”.
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The documentation that has primarily attracted our attention consists of correspond-
ences, minutes of sacred canonical visits (required by the general norms of the Order
and conducted periodically by both a General Visitor and a Provincial Minister),
asset records, administrative and financial documents, income and expenditures,
chronicles, and conventual memories (notations about the most important events
that occurred in a year, usually presented chronologically), and construction works.
Consequently, the most significant papers were selected to document some events re-
lated to the architectural complexes, such as construction, renovation, and expansion
works of the buildings, property states, relationships established by the convents with
the environment and territory in which they are situated, particularly regarding the
use of modest property resources (mainly water sources, forests and pastures, agricul-
tural spaces), communication routes, and urban settlements. The aim is to bring new
insights into the history and life of the Observance convents chosen as case studies',
spanning from the 17% to the 20™ century.

This contribution will present only a few examples that will be the subject of more
extensive discourse in subsequent work by the research group.

the others, at the moment, there are rather summarised and incomplete lists of con-
tents, and it is only thanks to the availability of the friars that we have been able to
consult the papers of our interest. Only the documentation of San Francesco del
Monte of Perugia (Monteripido) has remained on-site and is preserved in the internal
archive, reorganised, inventoried, and accessible through a printed catalogue from
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complete; some still need to be ordered and catalogued (such as those related to Mon-
teluco and the Sacro Speco of Narni) and thus difficult to access. As Andrea Maiarelli
writes (Maiarelli, 2005, p. XIV), “in most cases, we are indeed faced with modest doc-
umentary remnants of archives that were much more substantial, as clearly evidenced
by the numerous ancient inventories found during the cataloguing process”.

The documentation that has primarily attracted our attention consists of correspond-
ences, minutes of sacred canonical visits (required by the general norms of the Order
and conducted periodically by both a General Visitor and a Provincial Minister), asset

records, administrative and financial documents, income and expenditures, chroni-

This research has taken into consideration: the Hermitage of Santa Maria delle Carceri in Assisi, the convents
of San Francesco del Monte of Perugia (Monteripido), of the SS. Annunziata in Gualdo Tadino, of the SS.
Annunziata of Amelia, San Bartolomeo in Foligno, S. Francesco di Monteluco in Spoleto, Sacro Speco of
Narni, San Francesco of Stroncone and the Hermitage of the SS. Annunziata in Cesi.
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cles, and conventual memories (notations about the most important events that occurred
in a year, usually presented chronologically), and construction works. Consequently, the
most significant papers were selected to document some events related to the architec-
tural complexes, such as construction, renovation, and expansion works of the buildings,
property states, relationships established by the convents with the environment and terri-
tory in which they are situated, particularly regarding the use of modest property resources
(mainly water sources, forests and pastures, agricultural spaces), communication routes,
and urban settlements. The aim is to bring new insights into the history and life of the
Observance convents chosen as case studies , spanning from the 17" to the 20" century.

This writing will present only a few examples that will be the subject of more extensive

discourse in subsequent work by the research group.

2. The convents and their landscapes in the archival documentation: some
examples

Since their foundation, the convents have contributed to the management and evolution of the
landscape with their assets — albeit modest, considering the rules of the Order — consisting of
forests, small plots of land, vegetable gardens, and sometimes farms: for example, with reforest-
ation efforts or more frequently with the planting of fruit trees, especially vines and olive trees.
In the meagre real estate assets of the religious structures under consideration, there are also
some peasant houses and hospices, as we will see with some examples later.

It is known that the convents establish privileged relationships with the physical charac-
teristics of the spaces in which they are founded, giving rise to that particular process that
semioticians call ‘signification’, that is, the attribution of specific meanings to the physical
environment, hydrography, geological features, and aspects of vegetation. Historiography
(and the archival documents consulted confirm this) has highlighted in numerous studies
the close connection between convents and environments and landscapes, particularly with
water sources and watercourses and forests. This connection is established from the very begin-
ning when the first hermits choose places for their retreats. For example, in 1977, Luigi Pellegrini
reflected on the location of the first Umbrian setlements in the hermitic experience of Francis
and his followers: precisely concerning the forest and the centuries-old presence of oak and cop-
pice forest for wood and animal grazing; or about high pastures (once much more extensive than
today), which sometimes extended to the hermitages; or in relation to springs and natural shelters
for humans and animals. The location of hermit and conventsites is also important, including both
primary and secondary roads, such as the roads and paths that connected forests and pastures to

inhabited centres, especially in pastoral hill areas towards neighbouring regions.
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Examples include the Sacro Speco of Narni, located on a path that connects Poggio
Bustone to high pastures and descends towards La Leonessa; Greccio, which gravitates
towards Stroncone and Terni; Monteluco on the way to Valnerina; the Fonte Colombo
area connecting Rieti with the farms and villages of the higher agricultural and pastoral
zone (Pellegrini, 1977, pp. 307-309).

From the consulted documentation (though extremely fragmentary and discontin-
uous), it emerges that many convents owned or could use forested areas during the
period under consideration. All had one or more vegetable gardens, almost always en-
closed spaces, equipped with wells or cisterns for water, which provided a significant
portion of the friars’ sustenance throughout the year, thanks to the seasonal cultivation
of vegetables and the presence of fruit trees.

Let’s now delve into some significant examples.

From a report by Friar Bonaventura from Perugia in 1650 (preserved in the convent’s
archives), it is learned that around the convent of San Francesco del Monte in Pe-
rugia, there was the enclosure wall which included a very large space, including, in
addition to the church, a forest of oaks and cypresses, and terraced vegetable gardens;
a third cloister (now known as San Giacomo della Marca’s) enclosed another area
used as a vegetable garden at the time (Giacometti, 2014, pp. 8§9-90).

A document from the same year about the state of the Convent of San Francesco di
Stroncone stated that the religious had no property, “except for the church, a cloister,
vegetable gardens, and the woods” (San Francesco di Stroncone, Carteggio, 5, c.n.n.).
In some documents from 1620, it is learned that the water supply for the vegetable
garden was provided by a concession from the Municipality “of ancient use and pos-
session of water” from two springs. One — it is written — flows from a spring “and
flows through a hole in the ground and falls into a certain pool to go to San Francesco
through the conduits that can be seen and appear up to the convent and vegetable
gardens of the same Fathers, where the preserve and fishpond are for watering salads
and herbs in the summer”; the second “is the one that flows through the earth in the
rains, passes through the Square of Stroncone towards the Archive under which there
is the house of Antonio di Placido, where at the bottom there is a sewer, or washroom”,
turther on, it passed by other houses and other “washrooms”. Given the Community’s
intention to sell the spring, the friars requested and obtained permission to maintain
ownership (Convento di San Francesco di Stroncone, Carteggio, 11, c.n.n.).

The large vegetable garden of Santa Maria delle Carceri also provides information,

at least in the nineteenth and twentieth centuries, on the numerous and substantial



ANNA GUARDUCCI

work for the construction and maintenance of the enclosing wall, which also served, in
one section, as support for the road that still connects the city to the sanctuary. For exam-
ple, on May 8, 1822, the master mason Bernardino Barili from Assisi, appointed by the
guardian Friar Andrea from Spello, carried out an appraisal of the work done on the vege-
table garden walls, with surveying, measurement, and detailed expense calculations, also
planning the enlargement and some restorations to the cistern (bottom and side walls,
walls with vault and roof) (Archivio dell’Eremo di Santa Maria delle Carceri in Assisi,
Carteggio, 7, c. 8).

During the twentieth century, efforts were made several times to repair or rebuild the en-
closing wall of the convent vegetable garden: for example, in 1927, at the expense of the
Directorate of Monuments of Umbria; in 1931 and 1948, when a section of the enclosing
wall was demolished, and an internal road was built that crossed it all to reach the heart
of the convent; in 1949, a door was opened from the vegetable garden to the lower part
of the convent, and a ‘cistern’ (a water reservoir) was built next to the new road, where
‘vines and fruit trees’ had been planted; in 1953-1954, to increase the cultivable area,
stones were removed from part of the pavement and replaced — it reads — “with earth from
the Mountain that will allow planting”; in 1956-1957, the chronicler wrote: “With much
regret, the 70 vines of the vegetable garden were removed. Their yield was zero, and the
very few clusters did not ripen”; finally, in 1971 (the year in which the convent served as
a set for Franco Zeffirelli’s documentary Fratello Sole Sorella Luna), repairs were made
to the vegetable garden road (Archivio dell’Eremo di Santa Maria delle Carceri in Assisi,
Cronache, 1).

In a Memoir from the Convent of the SS. Annunziata of Amelia, undated but dating back
to the first half of the twentieth century, the typical landscape context of sharecropping
is well described, in which the structure is located, consisting of hills covered with crops,
with the distinctive mixture of fields of cereals, olives, fruit trees, and married vines; a
landscape that stands out from the Apennines, visible to the north and northwest, and
from the flat Roman countryside, open to the south. Outside the enclosure extends a
dense thicket belonging to the Convent, donated in previous centuries by various individ-
uals and the Municipality of Amelia.

The anonymous document reads: “The convent is surrounded by fertile hills cultivated in
a special way, as fruit cultivation is unique [...]; rows of vines and trees with vines wrapped
around them, and this is common, but what is unique here is seeing olives and all sorts
of fruit, especially figs, growing in great abundance without order, so closely spaced that

one almost touches the other. Nevertheless, the land yields and the tenants are much
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better off here than in other parts of Italy”. The description then states that “from the
convent, at an altitude of 500 meters, there is a view over the vast plain of the Roman
countryside, while to the east and north the landscape is made up of hills and ridges
of the Apennines, which continue towards Lazio; to the west, there is Mount Cimino,
at the foot of which is the village of Surigno and Viterbo can be seen; beyond, there
is a vast plain that extends to the sea” (Archivio SS. Annunziata di Amelia, Memorie
diverse, 4).

Numerous documents from the convents reveal the problematic relationship with
the shepherds who passed through (for autumn and spring transhumance or summer
mountain grazing) on the roads, fields, and woods belonging to the religious, causing
damage to the structures and vegetable gardens, cutting vegetation, etc.

For example, at the Sacro Speco of Narni, in a note from 1746, it is learned that the
convent had a large wooded area granted by the Popolo of San Volano: “all the thicket
or large forest” located near the road leading to Narni, including “that little corner
or patch of thicket that remains below the road that leads to San Volano”, of which
the exact boundaries needed to be recognised. In the document, the friars appeal
to the Community to grant them the maintenance of this possession, especially “to
escape the troubles with the shepherds of Vasciano who continually damage the forest
with their herds, reducing it to a thornbush, not content with grazing, but if there
is any tree, they have no scruples about cutting it down”, to the point that the forest
around the convent was practically bare and the friars without firewood (Sacro Speco
di Narni, Archivio non inventariato, Inserto 1700, c.n.n.).

In 1755, in a letter sent to the superiors, the guardian and the friars once again com-
plained of frequent damage to their vegetable gardens by shepherds and livestock from
nearby areas passing through and grazing, as there was no wall protecting the convent’s
properties (Sacro Speco di Narni, Archivio non inventariato, Inserto 1700, c.n.n.).

The forest of the Sacro Speco of Narni also became the subject of disputes in the next
century, as revealed in a series of documents produced in the mid-nineteenth century:
the first is an appraisal signed by Dioniso Ridolfi in 1835, which talks about the need
to mark the boundaries of the wooded area due to a dispute over a piece of land below
the minor road, or ‘Morrone’, contested between the friars and Messrs. Battistelli; the
expert advised the friars not to engage in a lengthy and risky lawsuit and not to insist on
the ownership of this disputed area, but to be satisfied with certain and provable pos-
session.

Apparently, the religious did not follow the expert’s advice but continued the lawsuit,
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eventually leading to a trial in 1855, so that by 1859 the issue still needed to be solved®.
The difficult relationship with the shepherds also emerges at Santa Maria delle Carceri
in Assisi. In an appraisal of September 15, 1824, preserved in the convent’s correspond-
ence, the damages caused by shepherds who passed with oxen, sheep, and pigs near the
sanctuary were noted; to remedy these inconveniences, it was established that shepherds
should pass along the upper road leading to Mount Subasio, thus prohibiting access to
livestock near the convent and prohibiting the cutting of the sanctuary’s forest by shep-
herds and the rest of the population (Archivio dell’Eremo di Santa Maria delle Carceri in
Assisi, Carteggio, 7, c. 7).

In 1841, as the problems persisted, a project was drawn up by surveyor Lorenzo Carp-
inelli to surround the convent’s thicket with walls to establish its exact ownership, with
a request for a portion of land adjacent to the neighbouring owner, Mr. Francesco Anto-
nio Bensi, to make the boundary line regular (as indicated on an attached map) (Archivio
dell’Eremo di Santa Maria delle Carceri in Assisi, Carteggio, 11, c. 14) (Fig. 1).

The thicket of the Carceri was apparently frequently visited by the locals, even for festi-
vals and entertainment, as a century later, in 1924, the mayor of Assisi was forced to issue

? The insert contains other documents on the disputed spot, including a report with a plan from 1836 (Sacro
Speco di Narni, archivio non inventariato, Inserto 1800, c.n.n.).
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a ‘manifesto’ against obscene language and revelry in the Carceri thicket threatening to close

the enclosure and prevent public access (Archivio dell'Eremo di Santa Maria delle Carceri
in Assisi, Cronache, 1, “Cronaca di S. Maria delle Carceri dal 1909 al 19717).

Among the papers of the Carceri convent, interesting notes are also found about the re-
forestation of Mount Subasio, carried out during the years of the First World War by Aus-
tro-Hungarian prisoners of Czechoslovak and Hungarian nationality. These were the first
reforestation efforts using black pine alternated with broad-leaved trees (Regione Umbria,
2015). The chronicler reports that from May 9, 1916, until 1919, the prisoners stayed
in the sanctuary itself, initially “in the thicket below the Carpenter’s Chapel” and then
directly in the convent, completely invading it, much to the annoyance of the friars, who
were forced to retreat to four rooms that had to be separated from the rest of the building
by a wooden gate. During this period, the prisoners also performed other work for the
convent, such as the road from the city to the Sanctuary, a new roof, and a wooden floor
in the shed under the guesthouse. In 1919, the reforestation continued by workers who
also stayed in the convent (Archivio dell’Eremo di Santa Maria delle Carceri in Assisi,
Cronache, 1) (Figg. 2-3).

As previously mentioned, the hospices are among the few real estate assets owned by the

Observant Franciscan friars. These modest buildings constituted “the centre of a Search,
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a well-defined territory in which the searching friar, the holder of the hospice”, would
go during specific periods of the year, exercising the right of begging (the goods begged
by the friars generally consisted of cereals, cheese, wool, hemp, legumes, oil, must, and
eggs). Most of these buildings were, for the most part, if not entirely, abandoned after the
suppressions of the 1860s and, unlike the convents, were not “repurchased or restored”
(Maiarelli, 2004, pp. 57-58).

For example, the religious of the SS. Annunziata of Amelia owned four hospices: one in
Porchiano, received as a gift in 1559; one in Penna; one in Melezzole, obtained in 1807;
and one in the city of Amelia, obtained in 1613, which was later sold to purchase another
one near the hospital, so that it could serve as an infirmary (Archivio SS. Annunziata
di Amelia, Memorie diverse, 4, ‘Storia del Santo Ritiro della Santissima Annunziata di
Amelia’, authorless — but attributed to Padre Bernardino Pacifici — and dateless).

In the documentation of the San Francesco del Monte Convent in Perugia, eleven
hospices are listed in 17237, all dependent on the structure and located in the diocese
of Perugia (Archivio Storico di S. Francesco del Monte in Perugia, Processi verbali
delle Sacre Visite Canoniche, n. 1).

The friars of the Sacro Speco of Narni also used a house as a hospice in the city
of Narni, which was also intended as a shelter for sick and convalescing religious
and laypeople. In a letter from 1755, they asked their superiors for permission to sell
the building to find a better situation, lamenting the position and the unhealthy and
damp air due to the proximity of the tanneries and the public washhouse. It seems
they were soon granted their request, as another document from 1784 speaks of a
new hospice, apparently located “in the area of Monte or Piazza delle Grazie” (Sacro
Speco di Narni, archivio non inventariato, Inserto 1700, c.n.n.).

The fathers of the Hermitage of the SS. Annunziata in Cesi in 1731-32 received as
a gift from the Community of Terni (with certain unspecified conditions of use) the
Hermitage of San Onofrio?, a hospice with some ‘adjacencies’ consisting of a piece of
olive land with a small house in a place called Le Ficare or Canapine, near the public

road; five other working and olive-growing plots in places like Campomaggiore, San

’ Canneto, Castel del Piano, Castel Rigone, Magione, Mantignana, Mugnano, Papiano, Pian di Renzano,
Pieve di Campo, Ponte Valleceppi ¢ San Martino in Campo; a quali si aggiungono, citati in altri documenti,
Campiglione, Monte Melino, Ponte Pattoli, Ponte San Giovanni, Prepo e Rancolfo o San Sugaro (Maiarelli, a
cura di, 2004, pp. 57-59).

*1t could be the complex located above the town of Cesi, surrounded by woods that dominate from above the
entire historic centre of Cesi and the whole Terni valley: it is located on an ancient hermit site of the fourteenth
century and consists of a seventeenth-century church and an annexe building with the function of a hermitage,
currently in a state of neglect (https:/Avww.iluoghidelsilenzio.it/).
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Martino, Le Canapine, and Le Valli, and other fields whose use is not specified (Archivio
Storico della Provincia Serafica di San Francesco d’Assisi dei Frati Minori in Umbria,

Sezione Conventi Chiusi, Eremita della SS. Annunziata in Cesi, Carteggio, 2 ¢ 4).

3. Conclusions

After various events connected to the pontificate of Martin V, who approved the new ‘Mar-
tinian” constitutions drafted and proclaimed by John of Capestrano, which prohibited the
use of money and established renunciation of property, it was mostly his successor, Eugene
IV, an admirer of the Observance movements, who confirmed the concessions granted
thus far, albeit not without a certain degree of uncertainty and wavering. He appointed Ber-
nardino of Siena as Vicar General and Commissioner to the Minister General for the Ital-
ian Observants. In 1446, he issued the bull Ut sacra Ordinis Minorum religio which removed
the reformed friars from the Provincials’ jurisdiction and restricted the Minister General’s
authority over them to matters concerning their way of life and correction. He entrusted the
governance of the new community to two Vicars, each overseeing the Cismontane family
and the Ultramontane family of common obedience. The examination of, albeit fragmen-
tary and incomplete, archival documentation — of which a few examples are provided and
will be subject to a more extensive discussion — offers us further interesting details about the
relationships between the convents and the environments in which they are situated, par-
ticularly, as we have seen, regarding the use of forests and land for agriculture.

The management of water resources is another focus on which our attention has been
directed: watercourses, but above all springs and sources, important locators for human
settlement and especially for sacred sites (dating back to pagan rites and cults) chosen by
hermits for their retreats and later for monastic establishments. This water use sometimes
generates conflicts between the convents and the local communities, as evident from cer-
tain documents in the archives of San Bartolomeo of Marano di Foligno or San Francesco
of Stroncone.

Another theme that has been sought out in historical-archival documentation concerns
architectural transformations, works, restorations, and enlargements of the conventual
structures, interesting pieces of information that allow for an absolutely episodic recon-
struction but at the same time functional when integrated with survey and on-site inves-

tigation data.
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